NO. 48401-3-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION TWO

---

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JAMES MATHES,

Appellant.

---

---

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE  
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KITSAP COUNTY

The Honorable Kevin D. Hull, Judge

---

---

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

---

RITA J. GRIFFITH  
Attorney for Petitioner

Rita J. Griffith, PLLC  
4616 25<sup>th</sup> Avenue NE, #453  
Seattle, WA 98105  
(206) 547-1742

##

**A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. The trial court erred in excluding the testimony of Dr. Kenneth Muscatel in support of a diminished capacity defense.
2. The trial court erred in denying Mr. Mathes a diminished capacity defense.
3. Mr. Mathes did not receive the effective assistance of counsel guaranteed to him by the state and federal constitutions where his trial counsel failed to request a voluntary intoxication instruction.
4. Mr. Mathes did not receive the effective assistance of counsel guaranteed to him by the state and federal constitutions where his trial counsel failed to request suppression of his custodial statements under CrR 3.1.
5. The prosecutor's misconduct in arguing that Mr. Mathes could be found guilty of first degree assault based solely on his assaulting officers with a firearm denied him a fair trial.
6. The prosecutor committed misconduct in asking a state law enforcement officer witness to comment on Mr. Mathes's credibility, and this also denied him a fair trial.
7. Cumulative error denied Mr. Mathes a fair trial.

8. Convicting Mr. Mathes of both kidnapping in the first degree and harassment violated his rights against double jeopardy under the state and federal constitutions.

9. The trial court erred in finding that Mr. Mathes's two first degree assault convictions were "separate and distinct" criminal conduct.

**B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. Did the trial court err in excluding the expert testimony of Dr. Muscatel and thereby deny Mr. Mathes his right to present a diminished capacity defense where the court mistakenly read State v. Atsbeha, 142 Wn.2d 904, 16 P.3d 626 (2001), as requiring Dr. Muscatel to testify to a reasonable medical certainty?

2. Was Mr. Mathes denied the effective assistance of counsel (a) where his ability to form criminal intent was the issue at trial even though the defense expert on diminished capacity was not allowed to testify, (b) where lay witnesses testified about his impairment from drug use, (c) where no one tried to downplay the drug use, and (d) where his attorney never asked for a voluntary intoxication instruction?

3. Was Mr. Mathes denied the effective assistance of counsel where his attorney never challenged the admissibility of his statements under CrR 3.1 even though Mathes was taken into custody and guarded for a number of days in the hospital by sheriff's deputies without the state

providing him access to an attorney, and his statements were used against him at trial?

4. Was Mr. Mathes denied a fair trial by the prosecutor's misconduct (a) in arguing to the jurors that they could find intent to inflict great bodily harm from the mere fact that he fired his gun knowing that a deputy might get hit and (b) in eliciting an opinion from a state's witness implying that he might not have cared if he hurt anyone?

5. Did the cumulative impact of the prosecutorial misconduct or the trial errors deny Mr. Mathes a fair trial?

6. Did the entry of convictions for both first degree kidnapping and harassment violate the prohibition for double jeopardy where he could not have committed kidnapping without having committed harassment and the jury was not precluded from using the same evidence for conviction of both?

7. Under the plain terms of RCW 0.94A.589, can one shot fired in the direction of two deputies not support consecutive sentences because one shot fired cannot be "separate and distinct" conduct?

## **C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **1. Overview: Mathes's mental state during the incident.**

The eleven charges which the Kitsap County Prosecutor's Office filed against James Mathes arose out of an on-going domestic incident

between Mathes and his girlfriend Michelle Toste which ended with Mathes being shot three times by deputies of the Kitsap County Sheriff's Office during which gunfire was exchanged. CP 92-104; RP 572.

The trial court excluded a proposed defense expert witness, Dr. Kenneth Muscatel, who would have testified, in support of a diminished capacity instruction, that Mathes had a long history of mental illness which could have prevented him from forming the requisite intent to commit some of the alleged crimes. RP 83-87, 107-110, 625-626, 64<sup>1</sup>; CP 18-31. The jury nevertheless heard Toste describe Mathes as not himself and not making sense during the incident and as paranoid, hearing voices and under the influence of drugs while she was with him. RP 194-195. Mathes's father, another of the alleged victims and a state's witness, described looking into his son's eyes and finding that "there was nobody at home. He was gone." RP 267.

The issues for the jury, according to defense counsel during closing argument, remained whether Mathes was not guilty of harassment and guilty only of lesser included offenses for the most serious charges: in the counts involving alleged assaults on the police officers, assault in the second degree rather than the first degree; and in the kidnapping count

---

<sup>1</sup> The verbatim report of proceedings is designated as follows: the five-volume, consecutively-numbered report of proceedings is cited as "RP \_\_\_\_," and all other volumes are cited by date, e.g. "RP(6/12/14) \_\_\_\_."

involving Toste, unlawful imprisonment instead of kidnapping. RP 767. Defense counsel's argument asked the jury in each instance to find that Mathes did not have the requisite mental state for the greater crime. RP 761-766.

Defense counsel did not ask for a voluntary intoxication instruction to support this argument. CP 118-129, 130.

The jury convicted of the greater offenses which were charged alternately with lesser-included offenses, and all other charges, as well as all special allegations (armed with a firearm, crime against law enforcement, domestic violence). CP 189-200; 201-214. The court imposed a sentence of 720 months of confinement. CP 201-214.

A timely Notice of Appeal followed. CP 215.

**2. Dr. Muscatel's rejected offer of proof on diminished capacity**

Dr. Kenneth Muscatel testified pretrial that James Mathes had a chronic mental disorder consistent with bi-polar disorder and a very serious substance abuse illness which exacerbated the mental disorder. RP 78-79. According to Dr. Muscatel, because Mathes was "highly intoxicated" during the incident, legal insanity was statutorily precluded as a defense even though Mathes suffered from the kinds of psychotic and disorganized thinking associated with such a defense. RP 83.



Dr. Muscatel testified further, however, that there was ample foundation for concluding that Mathes had a diminished capacity which would keep him from being able to form a requisite intent of a crime. RP 86. Mathes was delusional, paranoid in his thinking; he thought that his girlfriend was engaged in inappropriate behavior and that she and some drug dealers were monitoring and following him with drones. RP 86-87. He might have been engaged in some bizarre version of self-defense rather than forming the intent to assault. RP 88. According to Dr. Muscatel, it would depend on the facts of the case whether his capacity was sufficiently diminished, but that the foundational elements of the defense were present. RP 87, 101.

Dr. Muscatel noted that the degree and role of drug and alcohol abuse was extremely significant, and specifically testified that “voluntary intoxication is a form of diminished capacity.” RP 83-85.

In reliance on the authority of State v. Atsbeha, 142 Wn.2d 904, 16 P.3d 626 (2001), the trial court excluded Dr. Muscatel’s testimony because Dr. Muscatel was unable to testify to a reasonable psychological certainty that Mathes could not form the required intent.<sup>2</sup> RP 107-110.

---

<sup>2</sup> Although defense counsel asked that findings of fact and conclusions of law be entered and the trial prosecutor indicated that he had provided copies of proposed findings and conclusions, RP 111-112, no findings and conclusions appear in the superior court file for the diminished capacity

After Michelle Toste appeared as a witness at trial, defense counsel made a further offer of proof. Dr. Muscatel testified for the offer that there were clear indications of mental disease at the time of the incident sufficient to cause impairment of his ability to form intent. RP 624-625. He reiterated that Mathes was most acutely affected by drugs. RP 632.

The trial court declined to reconsider because Dr. Muscatel could not testify with reasonable medical certainty that Mathes's capacity to form a requisite intent was in fact diminished. RP 641.

### **3. CrR 3.5 testimony**

Mr. Mathes made statements to the Kitsap County Sheriff's deputies who tended to him at the scene after he was shot. RP 31. The deputies testified at the CrR 3.5 hearing that all of his statements were volunteered and not made in response to any questions by them or others. RP 35, 39-41, 69-71.

Other deputies testified about statements made by Mathes at the hospital as they sat next to him in his room to guard him. RP 35, 45. Mathes made statements to these officers after being read his Miranda warnings. RP 45-46, 52, 54, 58-60, 62, 114-116, 118-120. With one exception, the officers said these statements were not made in response to questioning. RP 45, 60, 116, 120. The trial court suppressed the one

---

ruling or the CrR 3.5 ruling.

statement because it was made after Mathes requested an attorney. RP 120, 130.

Neither the parties nor the trial court addressed the fact that Mathes was not provided with counsel or provided with the number of the public defender's office or other attorneys during his days in the hospital even after he asked to speak to an attorney. RP 55, 62, 116. He even asked the nurse to call his attorney. RP 55-56. After several requests to speak to an attorney to different deputies, Mathes indicated that he had probably said too much and should wait until he spoke with an attorney, but that the attorney's office was closed until Monday. RP 119.

**4. Trial testimony of the lay witnesses**

**a. Mathes's irrationality**

On the evening of December 30, 2013, Mathes called Toste and asked her to get a babysitter for their five-year-old son and Toste's eleven-year-old son so that he could spend the evening with her. RP 189-190. Toste was surprised at the babysitter request since Mathes always wanted to see his son. RP 191. There was a no-contact order in place prohibiting Mathes from calling or seeing Toste, which they did not observe. RP 191, 240. Toste said she talked to Mathes because she loved him. RP 191.

After a number of phone calls, Toste told Mathes that her cousin would babysit the boys. RP 192, 241. Mathes picked Toste up and took

her to his mother's house. RP 193. Toste soon realized that Mathes was not himself that evening. RP 191, 195. They had sex, but Mathes then pulled a gun from under the mattress when she denied "cheating" on him. RP 194. Toste described Mathes's drug use that evening and admission that he had been using drugs heavily for several months. RP 195, 197, 213. She thought he was using heroin and it was affecting his behavior. RP 236. He made wild accusations – that Toste had married someone else, that she was pregnant and that Toste's twenty-one-year-old daughter was using drugs. RP 198. Mathes was hearing things and peppering Toste with questions. RP 196, 198. At one point he demanded that she give her sons away to strangers. RP 205-206. On cross-examination, Toste summarized that Mathes was hallucinating during the evening and that he was different. "It just wasn't Jim." RP 239-240.

According to Toste, Mathes held a gun to her head and would not let her leave throughout the night, although they had sex together once again. RP 201, 248.

**b. Toste's calls for help**

Mathes also wanted Toste to obtain drugs that evening. RP 199. So Toste used that request as an excuse to call Hannah Caulder, her daughter's best friend, who was living with Toste at the time; she upset Hannah by asking her if she knew where to get drugs. RP 199, 305. Toste

also called her daughter Stephanie and asked her to get drugs using drug terms Stephanie didn't understand; Toste also said "bang, bang" into the phone to suggest the gun, but this confused and alarmed Stephanie.<sup>3</sup> RP 200, 278-279, 279. As a result of these phone calls, Hannah went to Stephanie's house and there were a number of telephone calls between them, Toste and other relatives throughout the night. RP At around 5:00 or 5:30 in the morning, Stephanie went to Mathes's mother's house and Toste was able to whisper to her as Stephanie was leaving, that Mathes had a gun. RP 202-204.

Stephanie and Hannah confirmed, in their testimony, the confusing phone calls from Toste during the night, their attempts to call her and to discover when she would return home. RP 277-285, 304-307. At some point, they spoke with Toste's sister, who called the police. RP 286.

**c. Speeding along winding back roads**

Early in the morning, Mathes and Toste left the house. RP 206. At Toste's request, Mathes stopped at the coffee shop Toste frequented every day, but she was unable to communicate her situation to anyone there. RP 206-208. They stopped for gas at another time during the evening. RP 208-209. According to Toste, they drove around on winding roads for three hours at 100 miles per hour; Mathes had the gun between

---

<sup>3</sup> First names are used where it makes the narrative clearer.

his legs and, at one point, fired a shot out the window. RP 212-213, 215. During this time, Mathes thought Toste's (non-existent) husband was following them and was extraordinarily nervous and paranoid. RP 214. They stopped at Mathes's house so that Toste could look for her supposed wedding ring and then returned to Mathes's mother's house. RP 215.

**d. Gathering at Mathes's mother's house and confrontation with the police**

Mathes's father, Roy Mathes, arrived shortly after Mathes and Toste returned to his mother's house. RP 216-217, 265. Mathes pointed the gun at his father and asked him if he was having an affair with Toste. RP 217-218, 265. According to Roy Mathes, he "swatted" the gun away twice when Mathes pointed it at him, and Mathes pointed the gun in the air and sat down. RP 266. It was then that Roy Mathes looked into his son's eyes and found "nobody at home." RP 267.

Toste's daughter Stephanie arrived a short time later. RP 219. Hannah drove Stephanie to the house, but remained parked outside. RP 288, 308, 311-312. Mathes asked Stephanie if she could get money because he wanted \$20,000 in order to go to Mexico. RP 219-220.

The phone rang, but Stephanie did not answer because she could see that the call was from 911. RP 221, 289. When CENCOM (911) called again on the landline, Mathes answered and put the phone on

“speaker.” RP 221, 290. Although Toste said she was okay and denied there was a gun, Mathes learned that the sheriff’s deputies were outside and they all left the house. RP 222-224, 290-291, 268.

Toste testified that Mathes told her to get in the car, but that the deputies who were outside commanded that she not get in the car. RP 224, 228. Mathes started to get in the car and Toste had opened the passenger door when the deputies began telling her not to get in the car. RP 227-228. Toste watched Mathes get in the car, and then get out and fire, she thought, at the police over the top of the car. RP 229-230. She could hear the officers firing too. RP 231. She and Stephanie ran across to a neighbor’s carport. RP 230-231. After the shooting stopped, the deputies ordered them to lie on the ground. RP 231. She could see Mathes on the ground holding his arm where he had been shot. RP 235. According to Toste, Mathes said to his father who had also come outside, “I love you Pops, but that bitch deserved what she got.” RP 235.

On the 911 tape, which was played for the jury, RP 223, the 911 dispatcher can be heard asking everyone to step outside, Mathes commanding Toste to get in the car and the sheriff’s deputies commanding that Mathes get out of the car. RP(911 call) 3. The gunshots were also captured on the call, as well as a female voice saying “Oh, my God” and the officers commanding people to get on the ground. RP(911 call) 3.

Stephanie confirmed that she could see the police coming over the yard when they left the house, that she heard the officers shout at her mother not to get in the car, that all of a sudden she heard shooting, that she pushed her mother and they ran to the carport and that she saw Mathes's hands over the top of the car. RP 291-292. She confirmed that she knew Mathes was using drugs that evening. RP 295.

Hannah confirmed that she heard Mathes tell Toste to get in the car and the police tell her not to. RP 312. She could not see who shot first because she was hiding in her car. RP 312.

Roy Mathes was parked in the driveway behind Mathes's car; Mathes told him to move his car or he would shoot Toste. RP 269. Roy got in his car and saw the women running beside his car and his son pointing the gun at Toste. RP 269-270. He yelled, "Jim don't." RP 269. Mathe stopped and went to the front of the car, put his hands down and fired over the car. RP 270. He fired 30 degrees up in the air; Roy could see the flame clearly. RP 270, 275. The house was on a hill and the police were fifteen to twenty feet below. RP 272. There was a thunder of shots and Mathes fell. RP 272. Roy was convinced that his son would die. RP 272-273.



**5. Law enforcement witnesses**

**a. Gunfire**

Deputy Benjamin Herrin was the first Kitsap County Sheriff deputy on the scene. RP 334-337, 342. Deputies Custis Lont, Steven Argyle and Stoner<sup>4</sup> and Lieutenant John VanGesen arrived soon after Herrin. RP 342, 391. Herrin and other deputies reported that the call originated with Port Orchard police as an investigation of a violation of a protection order. RP 338. Because the address was outside Port Orchard on the Bethel Burley Road, the investigation was transferred to the Sheriff's Office. RP 338-340, 412-413. The officers were provided information that a gun was involved. RP 340-341.

The deputies described Mathes's mother's house as being at the end of a steep driveway that curved first to the left and then turned 180 degrees to the right up to the front of the house. RP 348, 414. There were two cars parked in the drive -- Mathes's closest to the house and Roy Mathes's behind. RP 265, 443. Deputies Herrin and Lont approached the house from the driveway; Lt. VanGesen followed once he determined that there was no other access to the front of the house. RP 393, 436. Deputy Argyle went to the back of the house via another driveway, and Deputy Stoner took a position behind Herrin and Lont. RP 652.

---

<sup>4</sup> Deputy Stoner did not provide his first name when called as a witness.

First, the officers had CENCOM or 911 call into the house to establish contact with the people inside. RP 343. CENCOM directed them to come outside with their hands showing and speak to law enforcement. RP 344, 393. Mathes, Toste, Roy Mathes and Stephanie left the house, walked down the sidewalk and past the garage to the cars in the driveway. RP 353. Herrin and Lont stepped out of the treeline into the driveway and announced themselves as sheriff's officers. RP 355, 444.

Although accounts differed in specifics, all agreed that a very short time later there was an exchange of gunfire and Mathes was struck three times. RP 357364, 394-395, 448-449. No officers were hit by bullets. Herrin believed that all of the people who came out of the house went to the driver's side of the car, the side opposite to where he and Lont were. RP 356, 379-380. Lont testified that the women walked directly across to the carport in the neighbor's yard. RP 445. On cross-examination Lont agreed, however, that a photograph of the car showed that the passenger door was slightly open, which was consistent with the testimony of Toste, Stephanie, Hannah and Roy that Toste went to the passenger side and was commanded by the deputies not to get in the car. RP 228-229, 269, 291-292, 312, 465. Deputy Argyle, who was behind the house, heard the command not to get into the car and gunshots. RP 417

Herrin testified that he saw Mathes get out of the car and assume a two-handed stance with something metallic in his hand. RP 357. Herrin was convinced Mathes had a gun and did not wait to fire the rifle he had taken with him from his patrol car. RP 341, 358. Herrin fired twenty shots. RP 537. He testified that he fired again when he saw Mathes on his hands and knees, but no other witness recalled more than one volley of gunfire. RP 364, 455. Deputy Argyle, who was behind the house, reported hearing about fifteen shots in three seconds and that there was no second round of shooting. RP 420, 469. Mathes was then handcuffed, checked for weapons, taken by deputies to the medics waiting below and transported to the hospital. RP 365-368, 400, 417-418, 455, 483-484.

Deputy Lont testified that Mathes stopped at his car, opened the driver's side door, knelt down and appeared to "fumble" with something, stand up, point a handgun at them over the roof of the car and fire. RP 446-449. Lont returned fire shooting six rounds from his handgun. RP 449, 537. Deputy Stoner was at the bottom of the driveway on the driver's side of the car, when he saw Mathes leave the driver's side, and fire over the top of the car; Stoner lost his balance and when he regained it, he saw Herrin and Lont next to Mathes on the ground. RP 656-661.

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