NO. 48401-3-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JAMES CHARLES MATHES,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF
KITSAP COUNTY, STATE OF WASHINGTON
Superior Court No. 14-1-00301-1

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

TINA R. ROBINSON
Prosecuting Attorney

JOHN L. CROSS
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

614 Division Street
Port Orchard, WA 98366
(360) 337-7174

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

Here, according to the testimony in the CrR 3.5 hearing, Mathes first asked the deputy in his hospital room if he should get an attorney. IRP 54. He was again advised of his rights. *Id.* Then, he said that he thought he should talk to an attorney. *Id.* Following this exchange, Mathes, who had unfettered use of a telephone, called his father and mother. *Id.* On the question of speaking to an attorney “he didn’t give a yes or no answer at that time.” IRP 54-55. Then, Mathes requested that a nurse call his attorney. *Id.* at 55. Another deputy testified that she read Miranda warnings, Mathes said he wanted to speak to an attorney “but then proceeded to go ahead and make an unsolicited statement to me.” IRP 116. The deputy inquired as to who his attorney was. IRP 117. Mathes answered that he only shot because he saw no other way and that

he didn't want to hurt anyone. Id. at 118. Then Mathes said that he had said too much and "should wait for my attorney." Id. at 119 (emphasis added). The deputy asked if he had been in contact with his attorney and he said his attorney's office was closed and his dad would get ahold of his attorney on Monday (the statements made were on Friday). Id.

On this record, then, Mathes was equivocal about wanting the deputies to contact an attorney for him. When one deputy asked directly, she got no answer. Mathes then repeatedly referred to "his" attorney, clearly implying to the officers that he already had one. This is further shown by his discussion with his father about getting in touch with his attorney. Further, he clearly had access to a telephone that the police did not need to provide because the hospital did and nothing in the record reflects that the deputies guarding him restricted his phone use in any way. And, Mathes could and did seek assistance from medical staff in contacting "his" attorney. The question thus becomes whether the deputies had a CrR 3.1 duty to provide him contact with an attorney where Mathes knew of his right to one by multiple advisements of his rights, he evinced understanding of the right by asserting that he should talk to his attorney, he had unfettered access to a telephone allowing unfettered communication with his family and anyone else he desired to call, and when the deputies inquired, he made it clear that he already had an

attorney.

Since the CrR 3.1 right to counsel is not grounded on the demands of the constitutions, a violation of the rule need not be shown harmless beyond a reasonable doubt but, rather, the harmless error standard that requires a showing of prejudice when “within reasonable probabilities [if] the error [had] not occurred, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected.” *Templeton*, 148 Wn.2d at 220 (brackets by the court), *accord State v. Jaquez, supra* at 716. Where the arrestee has been advised of her right to counsel “right now” and the arrestee fails to request counsel, the rule is satisfied. *Id.* at 221. Moreover,

“Exclusion or suppression of evidence is an extraordinary remedy and should be applied narrowly.” In ruling on suppression a court should consider: (1) the effectiveness of the less severe sanctions; (2) the impact of suppression on the evidence at trial and the outcome; (3) the extent to which the objecting party will be surprised or prejudiced by the evidence; and (4) whether the violation was willful or in bad faith. Suppression is a harsh remedy to be used sparingly only where justice so requires and not where error is harmless.

Id. (internal citation omitted). Further,

Additionally, three factors are significant when considering if there was error: (1) no harm resulted from the officers' violation of CrR 3.1(c)(2) because no statement was made by Kirkpatrick at the officers' initiation, insistence, or suggestion before Kirkpatrick waived his right to counsel by initiating conversation; (2) Kirkpatrick did invoke his right to counsel, which demonstrated his intelligence and his knowledge and understanding of the right; and (3) the advice of counsel to invoke his rights, which the majority says he was denied, would have been redundant since that is precisely what he did.

State v. Kirkpatrick, 89 Wn.App. 407, 417, 948 P.2d 882 (1997) (Bridgewater, J. concurring). Here, the facts show no bad faith by the deputies and show that Mathes understood his rights. He invoked his need to speak with “his” attorney but choose not to invoke his equally clearly advised right to remain silent.

In *State v. Mullins*, 158 Wn.App. 360, 241 P.3d 456 (2010) *reversed* 117 Wn.2d 1006 (2011), Mullins, having been arrested for murder, “who previously had invoked his right to counsel, voluntarily made a series of incriminating statements in [the presence of arresting officers]” during the booking process. *Id.* at 362. He claimed that those statements should have been suppressed because he was not immediately placed in contact with counsel. *Id.* An arrestee may waive his CrR 3.1 right by “voluntarily initiating communication with police.” *Id.* at 366. Such waiver of a court rule right nonetheless must be knowing, intelligent and voluntary. *See e.g., Kirkpatrick, supra* at 415-16. Under the circumstances of *Mullins*, the court held that “[d]espite the reminders from the detectives that he had requested an attorney and could wait quietly in the adjoining room, Mullins began to talk and thus waived his rights under CrR 3.1.” Similarly, in the present case, Mathes was repeatedly reminded of his rights by attending officers, clearly understood those rights, and continued to talk, thus waiving his CrR 3.1 right.

Under these circumstances, defense counsel was not ineffective for not raising a non-constitutional claim that was not supported by the record. Deficient performance is not established. Furthermore, given that the defense used Mathes's hospital bed remarks to his benefit and given the overwhelming weight of the evidence against him, prejudice cannot be shown. *See* argument regarding weight of the evidence *infra* at 43.

D. THE CLAIMS OF MISCONDUCT WERE NOT PRESERVED, WERE NOT MISCONDUCT, AND, EVEN IF IMPROPER, WERE NOT PREJUDICIAL.

Mathes next claims that there was prosecutorial misconduct in arguing that shooting at police officers shows intent to cause great bodily harm and in eliciting testimony about the defendant's credibility. These claims are without merit because the evidence argued does tend to prove the intent of Mathes and not that knowledge is a substitute for intent and because eliciting testimony of a defendant's demeanor when he had asked a deputy a question is not a comment on credibility.

1. Closing Argument

To prevail on a claim of prosecutorial misconduct during closing argument, a defendant must prove that the prosecutor's remarks were both improper and prejudicial. *State v. Allen*, 182 Wash.2d 364, 272–73, 341 P.3d 268 (2015), *citing State v. Thorgeron*, 172 Wash.2d 438, 442, 258

P.3d 43 (2011)). Failure to object to alleged improper remarks constitutes waiver of the error unless the remarks were so flagrant and ill-intentioned that they cause an enduring and resulting prejudice that could not be cured by an instruction to the jury. *Thorgerson*, 172 Wash.2d at 443. To avoid waiver, a defendant must show that “(1) ‘no curative instruction would have obviated any prejudicial effect on the jury’ and (2) the misconduct resulted in prejudice that ‘had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury verdict.’” *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 761, 278 P.3d 653 (2012), quoting *Thorgerson*, 172 Wn.2d at 455.

The effect of a prosecutor's alleged improper conduct is to be viewed in the context of the trial as a whole—the context of the total argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the argument, and the instructions given to the jury. *State v. Monday*, 171 Wash.2d 667, 675, 257 P.3d 551 (2015) A prosecutor is entitled to point out the improbability or lack of evidentiary support for the defense theory of the case. *State v. Russell*, 125 Wash.2d 24, 87, 882 P.2d 747 (1994). A prosecutor has wide latitude to comment on the evidence introduced at trial and to draw reasonable inferences from the evidence. *Thorgerson*, 172 Wash.2d at 448. The “mere mention that defense evidence is lacking does not constitute prosecutorial misconduct or shift the burden of proof to the defense.” *State v. Jackson*, 150 Wash.App. 877, 885–86, 209 P.3d 553

(2009). An attorney may argue a reasonable interpretation of the law, but “[a] prosecuting attorney commits misconduct by misstating the law.” *In re Pers. Restraint of Cross*, 180 Wash.2d 664, 726, 327 P.3d 660 (2014).

First, Mathes lodged no objection during the state’s closing argument. He must, therefore, show that the state’s arguments were flagrant and ill-intentioned and that there is a substantial probability that the argument had a prejudicial effect on the jury. But here the state merely argued the evidence and reasonable inferences therefrom. Moreover, there was no need for a curative instruction because there was no misconduct to cure. Even so, a curative instruction here would have merely been an iteration of instructions already given—that the arguments of counsel are not evidence and that the jury is to take the law as instructed by the court.

The argument complained of, taken in the context of the all the evidence and arguments, went to a primary element the state had to prove in the case—Mathes’s intent when he shot at the police. The prosecutor asked the rhetorical question “Did he have intent to inflict great bodily harm?” 5RP 748-49. The argument noted that Mathes was “hiding behind the car, reaching over the top, and firing at them.” 5RP 749. Thus “the defendant intended great bodily harm.” *Id.* These remarks prefaced the next, “when you pull the trigger on a gun, you know what the result

is.” Id. This remark prefaced in turn the argument that “the trigger wasn’t accidentally pulled” and the reaching over the car with the gun and pointing it at the officers was similarly not accidental. Id. The prosecutor then addressed what Mathes had said about not wanting to hurt anyone by noting that “then he didn’t have to pull the trigger.” 5RP 750. And, “the very fact that he pulled the trigger tells you what his intent was.” Id.

So it can be seen that the prosecutor’s closing addressed the evidence in the case and addressed the potential for a defense argument of accident. The “you know what the result is” language is merely a truism about pulling triggers on loaded guns, not an attempt to lower the standard of culpability from intent to knowledge. In his rebuttal, the prosecutor was put to the task of rebutting the defense argument that Mathes intended suicide by cop. The state maintained that pointing and firing the weapon proves intent. 5RP 771. And the prosecutor made no argument concerning proof of knowledge being sufficient instead of intent. Rather, he notes other evidence that established intent like that Mathes wanted to go out with guns a blazing and that Mathes was trying to flee as evidenced by his command that his father should move his car and that Ms. Toste should get in Mathes’s car. Id. at 773. Counsel’s argument aptly met the defense argument. Moreover, the prosecutor’s argument that you know what’s going to happen, what the risks are, when you fire a gun at another

is a correct statement of the law; one thing that will happen is that you will prove intent as an element of first degree assault.

The Court of Appeals recently supplied a holding that appears to have been written for the present issue

“Proof that a defendant fired a weapon at a victim is, of course, sufficient to justify a finding of intent to kill.” *State v. Hoffman*, 116 Wash.2d 51, 84–85, 804 P.2d 577 (1991). Evidence of the number of shots fired in the direction of Mr. Stromberg and Ms. Smith sufficed to establish the required intent to inflict great bodily harm.”

State v. Weatherwax, ___ Wn.App. ___, ___ P.3d ___ (May 3, 2016). The quote simply needs to replace the victims in *Weatherwax* with the names of the deputies in this case to be a rather perfect fit. Further, that holding is a particular application of the more general rule that “intent to commit a crime may be inferred if the defendant's conduct and surrounding facts and circumstances plainly indicate such an intent as a matter of logical probability.” *State v. Vasquez*, 178 Wn.2d 1, 8, 309 P.3d 318 (2013), quoting *State v. Woods*, 63 Wn.App. 588, 591, 821 P.2d 1235 (1991). Herein, and in accord with these principles, the state argued that Mathes’s behavior with the gun proved his intent to do great bodily harm. It is but icing on the intent cake at that point to argue that Mathes knew what would or could happen when he fires a loaded gun at someone. Of course he knew that and in doing the act he clearly proved his intent as a matter of law. There, was no misconduct in arguing these issues. Even if a

highly technical parsing of the argument focusing exclusively on the argument that Mathes knew what would happen if he fired a gun seems close, given the law on the point it is clearly not ill-intentioned. Mathes did not preserve this issue for review.

1. Comment on Credibility

Mathes claims that the state elicited a comment on his credibility when the prosecutor asked a police witness whether Mathes seemed genuine when he asked if anyone had been injured by his actions.

First, there was no objection. Mathes has failed to preserve this issue. RAP 2.5; *see State v. Klok*, 99Wn.App. 81, 992 P.2d 1039 (2000) *rev denied* 141 Wn.2d 1005 (2000) (prosecutor comment on defendant's demeanor during closing not constitutional error and not preserved because of failure to object). Moreover, it can be seen that the failure to object in this context was for tactical reasons. The defense could not have been dismayed by the testimony that Mathes was concerned about the safety of others involved in this incident. It fit well with the assertion of suicide by cop as a defense. Thus,

One of the reasons for placing the burden on the defense to object in the course of argument is that the defendant and defense counsel are the persons most acutely attuned to perceive the possible prejudice of the prosecutor's remarks. The absence of an objection in this case indicates that the comment, at the time it was made, did not strike Klok or his attorney as being unfair or untrue.

Klok, 99Wn.App. at 86. Had the jury believed Mathes's hospital bed concerns were extant at the time of the incident, the defense would have been a leg up in its attempt to persuade the jury that Mathes did not intend to inflict substantial bodily harm on the deputies. And so the defense argued:

Now, when you look at all of the testimony as it relates to that particular issue, whether he intended to inflict great bodily harm, think of the statements made while Mr. Mathes is in the hospital to Deputy Adams and Deputy Gray. The statements he made while he was there, did I hurt anybody? I certainly didn't want to, especially I didn't want to hurt the police.

5RP 764. The defense was pleased to have that evidence from which to argue against a finding of intent. And evidence as to Mathes's demeanor when he made the remark could well have bolstered that argument.

Further, the usefulness of this evidence to the defense is underlined by the cross examination of Deputy Adams

Q. Deputy, isn't it true that Mr. Mathes brought up more than a couple times about his concern about anybody got hurt?

A. Yes.

Q. There was a number of times during a period of time you were there, correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. Didn't he also tell you that his intention was to hurt himself, not anybody else, especially the police? If you look on your report, the paragraph in the middle.

A. That's correct, he did. He said he did what he did because he wanted to get hurt himself, not hurt a cop.

4RP 504-05. Again, asking the question about Mathes's demeanor when he asked the question played into the defense hand. The defense knew it wanted this evidence and thus would not have objected to the state's demeanor question for tactical reasons. Moreover, the use of these statements by the defense was to its advantage on the defense theory of the case and thus was in no way prejudicial to Mathes. The defense failed to preserve this issue for good reason and it should not be reviewed.

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